With the eastern part of the County closed to land claimers, the prairies were soon taken by actual settlers, and no more free homesteads were to be had in Polk County.  The stream of settlers began to cross the Red River into North Dakota, but many remained to cast their lot in the coveted spot known as the Thirteen Towns, which for some reason was being withheld from settlement. 

In the election of 1882, one of the burning questions was how to get the Thirteen Towns opened to settlement.  With the election of Knut Nelson as a member of Congress, and with Paul Sletten in the United States Land Office, it did not take long before the garden spot of the County became available.  This area was divided into thirteen townships namely: Eden, Columbia, Queen, Rosebud, Brandsvold, Hill River, Chester, Lessor, King, Sletten, Winger, Knut and Badger.

It might be added that a treaty line ran through the townships of Eden, Queen and Chester, leaving an easterly portion of these three still in Indian Territory.  This also was opened, however, with the opening of the Red Lake Reservation in 1896, making the thirteen townships complete.

On July 4, 1883, starting from Crookston at the crack of a rifle, there was a barn storming rush of men, relapsed eastward.  Men rode behind ox teams, or came on bouncing buckboards, with others on horseback or even riding mules, each eager to have for him a choice piece of land to claim as his homestead.

The first logging camp, known as Warren's came into being, and Walker road soon became known - it being a well beaten trail over which the toters were constantly freighting their groceries and supplies to camp, from Crookston.

The need for a town was seen, and the credit for this town --Fosston-- goes to W.J. Hilligoss, who chose the area and purchased the town site in January, 1884 from Robert Long (who was commuting on his homestead) for $500.00 This particular spot was unbroken prairie, just at the east edge of the great timber country to the east, and was sixty miles by wagon road to the nearest railroad town.

The same month that Mr. Hilligoss bought the town site, he had Norman Lewis survey four blocks, and named the town site Fosston, Polk County, Minnesota post office established with himself as the first postmaster.  This had been granted on September 4, 1883, and so recorded in the National Archives at Washington, D.C.  The post office was located in the Foss Store, on what was then known as the John Flesch farm in southwestern Rosebud Township.  He agreed that if the new town site were named for him, he would move his store and post office to it. 

As soon as Mr. Hilligoss had the town site surveyed and before the post office was located on the site, he went to Crookston in search of someone to start a newspaper.  He found Al Kaiser out of a job and interested in the adventure the prospect offered.  Kaiser agreed to furnish the printing press with Mr. Hilligoss furnishing the building to house the plant.

A 14x18 foot building was constructed of freshly sawed pine lumber, with green poplar studding and rafters, a clapboard roof, and a floor that jogged up and down with each turn of the wheels of the printing press.  This was the kind of building which first housed "The Thirteen Towns" newspaper, and also served as the office and sleeping quarters for the publisher, editor and printer, all-in-one.  After several days of fire in the rickety sheet iron stove, the lumber began to season; cracks opened in the sides of the building and floor, allowing an abundance of the pine and spruce-laden air, and occasional snowflakes to enter unbidden.  This was a continuous nightmare, with heat on one side and frost on the other, according to a later description by Mr. Kaiser.
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A drawing of Fosston in 1885, showing a store at left operated by Louis Foss, for whom the town was named.

One of the drawings by Esten Moen from his book, “Fosston, Minnesota – A Story of the Old Town”, 1944.

“The drawing here shows us the Foss store at the left, with a bull and cart standing in front.  Across the street 

we see the Foss residence, and the third building in the foreground was the Andrew Vingaard blacksmith shop.

This scene of course shows not the year 1884 but more likely the appearance as it was in 1887 or 1888.  The

six other buildings in the background are, left to right: Rev. Davis’ residence; second, Dr. Cormontan’s Residence (the

towns first resident physician, who wore a “stove pipe hat” and “swallow-tail coat”); third, is the “Golden Spike

Saloon” of Knute and Eli Austin; fourth, the Toby Movold grocery; fifth, the Haakon Bostad blacksmith shop; 

And sixth is the little schoolhouse, which stood right beside the little “duck pothole”.

The branch store of Louis Foss & Company, with Mr. O.A.E. Blyberg as his partner, and Johannes Beim in charge of it, occupied the 16x32 building, which had been a granary.  Mr. foss had purchased it from John Flesch and had brought it into the town site by an ox team.  The nearest farmhouse was a little over three-fourth of a mile from the town, and due to the deep snow only a few roads were kept open in the winter.  There were days when not a human soul would appear to cheer or dampen the spirits of the two lonesome residents in what was then Fosston.

Those were the days when the settlers of the Thirteen Towns experienced all the hardships--and pleasures--of pioneer life.  There were times when food supplies ran low, and one settler had to depend upon his neighbor to divide stores of flour and meat until the roads were passable for freight teams bringing in new supplies to the one store.

In the spring of 1884 there were between four and six feet of snow on the level, with roads drifted from eight to twelve feet high in places, making traveling exceedingly difficult if not impossible.  There were but few comfortable houses in the community that winter, the majority of the buildings having been constructed of green lumber, logs or sod.  Almost all the settlers ranged in age from 21 to 35, and were of the hardy type that it takes to make and build a country.  At least 85% of these were Scandinavian, most whom had but recently arrived in the United States from Norway and Sweden, drawn her through the efforts of the Hon. Knute Nelson, who had broadcast through the Scandinavian papers of the United States, the story of the wonderful fertility of the soil in the Thirteen Towns area. 

Not all the settlers were men.  About 10% of the homesteaders were hard-working housemaids and factory girls who had the foresight to know that when they obtained a quarter section of the Thirteen Towns land, they were no longer dependent upon work in the kitchen or workshop.  They would eventually be sought by the neighboring bachelors, to marry and build good, comfortable homes and make the community what it is today--a community with more modern and comfortable homes than any settler ever dreamed about, in those days of kerosene lamps and candles.  

In those early years, Indians from White Earth Reservation would frequently come to town with their squaws and papooses, pitch camp for a day or two, smoke their pipes and trade their wares at the stores, and on occasion, entertain with their colorful dances. 

There was much effort put forth by the Fosston people to induce different railroads to build through this territory, the first efforts being directed toward the Duluth and Winnipeg, then to the Brainerd and Northern Railway, which was looked upon as the Northern Pacific owned road, and lastly the Great Northern Road.  The latter railway saw the possibilities of a line connecting the Great lakes with the grain fields of the Red River Valley.  The line was surveyed in 1886 and built as far as Fosston in the year 1888. 

As the country around Fosston began to develop, the town kept pace.  Before the railroad reached it in 1888, the town had grown from that one trading post and a newspaper, to a place with three general stores, a flourmill, drug store, hotel, blacksmith shop, three saloons, a church and a district school.  There were unpainted pine houses on either side of a single street, with a saloon at each end.  It was a lumberjack's town on the fringe of civilization.  For many miles to the north and east the only inhabitants of the vast wilderness were Indians.  Back in the dense trackless forest, the lumbermen toiled and suffered through the long winters.  There were no restrictions on vice in the town--in fact, the arm of the law was seldom outstretched except against theft or murder. 

The first minister, before the railroad reached this point, was Rev. Lars J. Jerdee.  The first schoolteacher, A.D. Wishard, the first resident doctor, Dr. M. A. Cormonton, and the first attorney were W.H. Averill.

Hotel Belmont was built in the summer of 1884 by Mr. Hilligoss, but was of such poor structure, it was torn down after only a few years and the lumber used to build the commercial Hotel of the new town.

A stagecoach line, which traveled as far west as Maple Bay, stopped at the Belmont for passengers, at the Foss Store for mail, and at the Bostad Blacksmith Shop to shoe the horses.

The first school in the area was one taught in his home south of Fosston, by John Miller.  The first one in Fosston was a private school taught by A.D. Wishard until 1885, when common school district 142 was organized, and a 16'x20' schoolhouse was built just at the foot of the hill of the old town.  Miss Mary Corneliuson taught the first classes of the school arriving each day by horseback from her homestead in Columbia Township.

The first congregation was organized July 21, 1884, when Kingo Lutheran Church was begun, with services held in the hotel and various other available places.

Dr. M.A. Cormonton, the first resident physician, arrived in 1886.  It has been told that he wore a high stovepipe hat and a frock coat to make his many calls in the area by ox-team, never knowing how long he would be gone, sometimes for one day or perhaps two or three.  His practice varied from prescribing pills and medicine to complicated surgery.  Dr. Cormonton died in 1892. 

The years 1885 and 1886 were important ones in the growth of Fosston.  During this period the Larson Bros. and S.S. Stadsvold opened a large general store, and built a flourmill; Ruud and Peterson a drug store; the Hostetter Brothers a sawmill and lumber yard; Knute and Eli Austin the "Golden Spike" saloon, and the Molvold Brothers moved their general store to Fosston. 

Among the early residents who did their part to keep the name of the town on the map were W.J. Hilligoss, O.L. and L.W. Larson, S.S. Stadsvold, W.H. Averill, K. Movold, Louis Foss, I.I. Hillestad, L.W. Sharpe, Lewis Lohn, Ed Ruud, and Eli Austin.

With the coming of the railroad in 1888, the town began the move to its present location.  This same year, Thron Movold, who had homestead rights on the present location of the town, sold land to A.D. Stephens of Crookston, who platted it as a town site.

Fosston's greatest early years were from 1889 to 1899 when it was the end of the railroad line from Crookston.  These were the years when the lumberjacks made it their headquarters, and all supplies from the lumber camps and Red Lake Reservation went out from Fosston.

On April 18, 1889, fifty-two men filed a petition for incorporation of the Village, since in March, W.J. Hilligoss, J.T. Stephens, and N.J. Anderson had ascertained that the census taken of the area for incorporation was 312 legal voters.  In May, "The Thirteen Towns" newspaper published the petition for incorporation--once a week for three successive weeks--as required by law.  Notices of election were posted, and on June 4, 1889, the election was held in the school building, with fifty-three votes cast--all in favor of incorporation.  Four days later the incorporation papers for the Village of Fosston were recorded by the Register of Deeds in Crookston, the County Seat of Polk County, Minnesota, in the manner provided by law.  

After the village was well on its way with the move to its present site, many additional businesses came into being.  The first bank, called The Bank of Fosston, was organized during this time.  The on-room school was moved to a more central location, and another room added in the summer of 1889.  An Opera House was built, affording entertainment and relaxation for persons of the town and surrounding areas.  On its opening nights, The Grand Forks Theatrical Company presented "The Noble Outcaste", The Drunkard's Home", and "The Factory Girl".  Dances, dinners, basketball games, and other town activities took place in the Opera House, later known as the Larson Arcade.

An extensive building boom followed in 1894, with many new houses, and places of business springing up.  Additions to homes and remodeling work appeared on the scene.  Farmers were building homes and barns, and lumber dealers reported such good business their lumber piles were depleted. 

The picturesque White Earth and Red Lake Stage Lines had been in operation through the years, with the Moose Line added in 1895.

In 1895 the Stadsvold and Lohn Addition on the east side of town was platted, with lots laid out; and the following year Stephens and Johnson town site property on the west side was platted, drained, and put in shape for new residences.

The mode of transportation had changed from the covered wagon, oxcart, wagon, buggy, and surrey with-the-fringe-on-top, to bicycles - and later even to motorcycles.

George Dunlevy had the first private telephone of the town installed, and later started the first telephone company, with the exchange above the Mark’s Drug Store location.  His wife was the first operator and also had a dressmaking shop in the office.  Mr. Dunlevy was the first manager of the Light Company, and lights illuminated Fosston for the first time in October 1898.  These early lights were bulbs dangling from the ends of green twisted wire, suspended from the middle of the ceiling in room.  Even these were a great improvement over the kerosene lamp, and eliminated the tiresome daily chore of washing chimneys and filling lamps.  The street lamps in the main part of town had two carbons, which had to be cleaned and adjusted every day.  They were let down with a rope, cleaned and pulled up again, but were soon replaced by globes and bulbs.

Several disastrous fires occurred during these years, destroying business places and homes, which were quickly rebuilt, and the pioneers went on to realize their home and aims.

About this time Fosston had two cigar manufacturing concerns, with one of the owners, Augusta Long, making and featuring “The Fosston” cigar.

Music played its part in the cultural development of the town with piano, organ, guitar, and voice lessons available under the direction of H.C. Olson, who had just returned from Norway where he studied under Prof. Lindman of Trondhem.  A thrice-a-week mail route was put into effect from Bemidji, thus making the Bemidji address “Rural Route Fosston”.

In 1898, a second bank, called The First State Bank, came into being.  This was located in the present Good Things building, next door to the present First National Bank.

The Fosston Woolen Mill was an important enterprise in the town, providing employment to many people for several years.  In 1898 the rail-extension to Duluth was complete, so the turntable and roundhouse were no longer used.  Until they were removed, children had fun playing on the turntable, tow pushing while others rode round and round on the top.

The first hospital had been opened the previous year, a hospital to care mostly for ill and injured lumberjacks, but which was also open to the people of the town and country.

Through these early years, many people had hoped that Polk County could be divided, the east end to be known as Nelson County, with Fosston as the County Seat.  This aspiration was so strong that land was purchased and set aside for the courthouse site, but several elections took place during the years, without it materializing.

By 1900, four Hotels: “Commercial”, “Central”, “Headquarters”, and “Fosston House” were in full operation.  Five elevators were running, with a sixth under construction.  The stadsvold Roller Mills, having been in business since 1888, was one of the leading industries.

The rich soil of the country around Fosston, originally well wooded and watered, made the finest farming and dairy land in the northwest, making the need for a Creamery apparent.  First attempts were made to start the Fosston Creamery Association. 

The vicinity of Fosston was noted not only for its excellent farming country, fine crops and enterprising, progressive people, but also for its numerous lakes, fine fishing and good hunting.  Hardly a vehicle could be secured on a Sunday, unless applied for well in advance; and the banks of the many lakes were lined with fishermen, not only from Fosston, but also from adjacent town and villages.  Family gatherings for picnics and other outings were a familiar sight on Sand Hill, Ouff, Cross, Turtle, and other nearby lakes.

The Fosston Schools had grown from a one room building in the old town to two buildings by now, with a from building housing the grade school and a large modern brink building next to it, that was the High School.  High School courses had been started in 1901.  In 1903 the four pupils who made up the first graduating class received their diplomas: Alida Hershberger, Elise Nesdal, Martin Ruud and Martha Tyndall.

The First National Bank came into being in 1903, with the result that the town now had three banks.  One rather unusual business worthy of mention was a Chinese Laundry, started by Ying Lee, who came from the East to open “The Fosston Laundry”.

Music had been prevalent for several years, a well known Cornet Band having been in existence for many years; a juvenile band composed of 19 youngsters was playing; a town mixed band often played Saturday night concerts; and a ladies mandolin and guitar orchestra had been formed.  The Norden Male Quartet had become quite renowned, and sang for many occasions in Fosston and surrounding towns.

Dr. Slippern had one of the first automobiles and one Sunday morning, with roads a bit different from those of today, invited Ed Ruud to accompany him to Winger, but they got to within only tow miles of that town before they got to a ditch they could neither jump across nor get around, so they had to abandon their trip.

In 1905 Fosston had a population of 1000, an increase of 364 in a ten-year period.

In 1907 there were four automobiles in town, owned by Dr. Slippern, D.A. Ray, H.K. Lee and Dr. R Turnbull.  The following year brought many more cars, and the Village Council posted notices to all drivers of all conveyances (including tricycles, bicycles and automobiles) that a speed limit of eight miles per hour was put upon all the streets of the Village.  Anyone caught going over this limit would be fined or sentenced to thirty days in jail.

The Farmers State Bank was organized in 1908, this being the only bank to survive through the years, and is still in operation today.

The first moving picture theatre in Fosston began operation in 1910.

Radios began to be talked about, with the Fishbeck brothers in the town of Sletten, the first to have a privately owned set.  A station in Kansas City, Missouri was heard on August 17, 1922 over their earphone set.

In 1913 the High School Basketball team won the first State Tournament, and a big celebration was held to greet the players on their return.  Much credit was given this team, since the Fosston School had been completely destroyed by fire early in February of that year, and the team, under Supt. Hoovers coaching had practiced in a small room with only one basket.  For seven years after this, various teams went to the state tournament but were never able to go quite all the way.

Fosston records no particularly noteworthy achievements until the 1930’s when it began to make strides in development ahead of many other northern Minnesota municipalities.  Streets were improved, some sidewalks and gutters were laid, and new buildings and a grandstone rose on the East Polk County Fairground, and water mains and sewers were extended.  Adding classrooms, a library, and a large combination auditorium-gymnasium in 1938 enlarged the school.  A new City Hall was built housing the fire department, jail, council rooms, kitchen and auditorium along with other improvements.  By this time the town had seven churches.  In 1932, Federal Highway No. 2 finished construction with paving laid from Bemidji to Grand Forks, straight through Fosston.

A variety of recreation was afforded in swimming program at Spring Lake in Lengby; skating rinks and summer programs were instigated under good supervision.  The Chatauquas, which visited the Village through the years, brought outstanding talent and entertainment to young and old.

Late in the 1930’s, following the depression years, the business population made great changes, with many of the early business people retiring and younger men and women taking their places.

The census in 1940 had risen to 1267, another increase from the 1930 figure of 1000.

During the 1940’s the village experienced phenomenal growth.  In the first five years of this decade many new homes were built.  That year Fosston built it sown Municipal Light and Water Department.  A Land O’Lakes Milk Dehydrating Plant went into operation, and a modern Locker Plant was built.  In 1953 the size of the Municipal Building was more than doubled.  One room at that time was set-aside for the Library, which was housed there until 1951. (See story on Library.)

Since its beginning, Fosston has survived the struggles of five wars: Spanish American, World War I, World War II, Korean Conflict and the War in Vietnam.  With the celebrations of victory came sadness and gladness; happiness for the families who had loved ones returning, with the trials of combat over, and sadness and sympathy to the families who lost loved ones.

About the time of the close of World War II, interest grew in the formation of a flying club and airport, and after purchase of a plot of land at the west edge of town, the idea became a reality.

In 1958, the Farmers State Bank doubled in size and this was the only bank serving Fosston.  Also that year a new post office building was built on the corner of 2nd Street and Kaiser Avenue.

Fosston again suffered another major fire when the last hotel in operation burned.  This was the Fosston Hotel, and the adjoining Red Owl Grocery Store was destroyed then too.

Interest in flying had grown to such and extent that in 1959 the airport was expanded with additional runways and lights.  By the 1960’s because of the number of large potato growers in the area, a potato flaking plant was started, which continued in operation for several years – with potato products being shipped around the country.

In 1961, a new modern hospital was dedicated, and this greatly added to the convenience of the doctors and to the patients who now had the latest facilities, without having to travel great distances.  A wing was added to this hospital in 1965, and in 1971 another addition was added on the east side, for Nursing Care.

Except for the building of private home, there were no buildings started until the latter part of the 1960’s, when a new Club House was built by the American Legion, seven duplex houses were built for those of low income, and a radio station, KEHG, was put into operation just eat of Fosston.  In 1968, the city started work on  a new Civic Center; a Seed Cleaning Plant was built. And also a Bulk Fertilizer Plant.  The last two businesses were of great service to surrounding farmers.

By 1971, the need for more apartments became apparent, and an 18-unit building was constructed in the west part of Fosston, and a study began on the possibility for building a Group Home.  This would proved housing for some of the peoples who were attending the East Polk County Developmental Achievement Center, which was being operated in the 4-H Building at the Fairgrounds at that time.

In July of 1972 a grant was received to create a park in the area east, across the street from the Low Income Housing.  This spot had been a slough and eyesore in the past, but with monies willed to the city by a Fosstonite, Larry Stafford, and donation of land by Art Berge, the Berg-Stafford Park was created.  Playground equipment was installed, a pool created in the center of the park, and trees were planted.  Here also, a monument was erected to honor the war dead, and Memorial Day Services were henceforth held in the park.

In 1980, a plan was presented to interested people of Fosston to purchase the former Bethel Assembly Church building for a library and arts center.  With planning and hard work on the part of the committee involved, this dream was realized, and in early 1981, the library was moved from its cramped quarters on 1st Street, to the spacious downstairs area of the building and the upstairs put to use for concerts and plays.  One of the biggest productions was “Fiddler On The Roof”, which played to a capacity crowd for four nights in 1981.

For some time it had become more and more apparent that the 1914 section of the High School was becoming unsafe and needed to be replaced.  At a special election held in the fall of 1981, the School District voted in favor of a bond issue for this project, besides adding several more classrooms.  Work was to begin in 1982 and it was hoped to have the first phase finished in time for the Centennial Celebration in 1983.

Because of a slow-down in economic conditions throughout the whole country in the early 1980’s, building construction in Fosston slowed down.  However, two large apartment houses were erected near the center of town, and the Polk County Development Center built a new building near the Group Home.

As Fosston enters its second one hundred years, it look back with a great sense of accomplishment and pride, and turns to the future with a prayer for continued growth, peace and units.  It realizes that a heritage isn’t preserved – It’s nourished.  It grows from bits and pieces told and written.

